
DALLAS CITY COUNCIL
Monday, February 4, 2013

Council Chambers

The Dallas City Council met in regular session on Monday, February 4, 2013, at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers of City Hall with Mayor Brian Dalton presiding. 

ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Council members present: Council President LaVonne Wilson, Councilor Jim Brown, Councilor 
Jim Fairchild, Councilor Kelly Gabliks, Councilor Beth Jones, Councilor Jackie Lawson, 
Councilor Kevin Marshall, Councilor Murray Stewart, and Councilor Ken Woods, Jr.  

Also present were: City Manager Ron Foggin, City Attorney Lane Shetterly, Chief of Police John 
Teague, Fire Chief Bill Hahn, Engineering and Environmental Services Director Fred Braun, 
Finance Director Cecilia Ward, City Recorder Emily Gagner, and Recording Secretary Jeremy 
Teal. 

Mayor Dalton led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

COMMENTS FROM THE AUDIENCE

Mayor Dalton asked the audience members to limit their speeches to five minutes.  

Joe Koubek, 565 SE Mifflin St., Dallas, Oregon, read a statement concerning the online payment 
program, a copy of which is attached to these minutes and incorporated herein.

Chelsea Pope, Executive Director of the Dallas Area Chamber of Commerce and Visitor’s Center, 
119 SW Court St, Dallas, Oregon, stated the 56th Annual Community Awards would take place at 
the Readiness Center on February 22, 2013.

PUBLIC HEARINGS

CONSENT AGENDA  

Councilor Woods asked that item a) the January 22, 2013, City Council meeting minutes be 
removed from the Consent Agenda.

It was moved by Council President Wilson to approve the Consent Agenda as presented with item 
a removed.  The motion was duly seconded and carried unanimously.

Item approved by the Consent Agenda: b) appointments/reappointments to the Park and 
Recreation Board.

ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA  

a) The January 22, 2013, City Council meeting minutes.

Councilor Woods stated the word “final” needed to be removed from line 41 as MWACT
would recommend projects to ODOT and the final decision would be made by the Super-ACT in
the fall.

It was moved by Councilor Gabliks to approve the January 22, 2013, City Council meeting 
minutes with the noted correction. The motion was duly seconded and carried unanimously.

REPORTS OR COMMENTS FROM THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS

MAYOR’S STATE OF THE CITY ADDRESS

Mayor Dalton presented his State of the City Address, a copy of which is attached to these 
minutes and incorporated herein.

REPORT OF THE JANUARY 28, 2013, ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

Councilor Fairchild outlined the Committee discussion on the proposed Council procedure 
revisions. He stated the Committee discussed online payments, a vacant building ordinance, and a 
chronic nuisance ordinance as well. He noted the Committee would look at a work plan for 
revising the City Charter at the next meeting.

REPORT OF THE JANUARY 28, 2013, BUILDING AND GROUNDS COMMITTEE

Councilor Stewart discussed the farmhouse repairs. He noted that the well had not been 
maintained properly and was being repaired. He stated that after the repairs were completed, the 
property would be listed between $225,000 and $235,000 and the funds would be put back in the 
Sewer Fund. He reported some equipment left on the property was sold to the county for $7,700. 
He noted the City secured state assistance to create a redevelopment plan for the Weyerhaeuser 
site.



City Council Meeting
February 4, 2013
Page 2 

OTHER

REPORTS FROM CITY MANAGER AND STAFF

DISCUSSION ABOUT JOINING THE OREGON MAIN STREET PROGRAM

Mr. Locke stated this was a request from staff to enroll the City in the Oregon Main Street 
Network (OMSN). He noted that program allowed joining without significant obligations or 
commitments. He reported the OMSN was run out of the State Historic Preservation office and 
had a dedicated staff person overseeing the program. He commented this was an opportune time 
with the projects downtown to provide the building owners with valuable resources that the City 
may not otherwise be able to provide. 

Councilor Lawson declared a conflict of interest. Mr. Shetterly advised it was only a potential 
conflict of interest as there was no money involved at this stage.

Councilor Woods asked if this was similar to the program in which the City participated in the 
1980s. Mr. Locke indicated one of the next evolutions of being involved in the OMSN would be 
the formation of a downtown association. That was a goal of the mature members of the network 
such as McMinnville and Pendleton. Councilor Woods stated in the previous program, the City 
received grant money that was used to repaint the downtown buildings. Mr. Locke noted 
participation in the program would open up grant opportunities.

It was moved by Councilor Woods to authorize the staff to enroll in the Oregon Main Street 
Program. The motion was duly seconded and carried unanimously with Councilor Lawson 
abstaining.

COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE REVISIONS

Councilor Fairchild reviewed the proposed changes to the Council Rules of Procedure.

Councilor Fairchild discussed the addition of a policy addressing attendance by telephonic or 
other electronic media. Councilor Woods asked how that would apply to executive sessions, 
adding the Council couldn’t know who was listening on the other end of the phone. Mr. Shetterly 
advised that there was an obligation of confidentially for Councilors to participate in executive 
sessions.

There was discussion about the requirements for prior approval of the Mayor for participation by 
electronic media. Mr. Shetterly suggested striking the word “prior” and allowing for approval at 
the meeting.

Councilor Fairchild suggested an alternate procedure for determining excused or unexcused 
absences. He recommended that when a Councilor couldn’t attend a Council meeting and the 
reason was covered by Section 4.9, items a-e, the member should contact the City Recorder prior 
to the meeting. If the absence was not covered by Section 4.9, items a-e, the Councilor would 
notify the Council President. Councilor Fairchild advised that Section 4.9 stated that it was “not 
limited to” so that was why the Council President would make the judgment.

Mayor Dalton asked if everyone understood that Councilor Fairchild was suggesting modifying 
the Excused Absence policy.

It was moved by Councilor Stewart to adopt the Council Rules of Procedure with the changes 
discussed. The motion was duly seconded and carried unanimously.

ONLINE BILL PAYMENT

Ms. Ward reviewed her staff report. She advised the cost to the City to add an online bill payment 
service would be about $1,600 to $1,800 a month for water and sewer customers. She noted that 
figure didn’t include court costs which would be minimal.

Councilor Woods asked about the cost per transaction. Ms. Ward indicated it was about $.88. 
Councilor Woods asked if this new process would keep the staff from going through all the steps 
to enter a payment. Ms. Ward stated that it would. Councilor Brown asked if an analysis had been 
done on the time it would save staff. Ms. Ward stated there hadn’t been an analysis done, but 
noted walk-in customers usually occupied six hours a day of staff time. 

Councilor Brown asked if there was a system in place to catch an error if someone sent in a wrong 
payment. Ms. Ward explained the payments would be associated with an account number and 



City Council Meeting
February 4, 2013
Page 3 

whatever payment amount was sent would be applied to the account.

Councilor Lawson asked if the City would send email statements instead of paper statements. 
Ms. Ward noted that would be part of the options with this service. Councilor Lawson asked if 
payments were late, would the customer receive an email or a paper late notice. Ms. Ward 
indicated the City would mail a late notice, but their statement could be emailed.

Councilor Lawson stated that $.88 seemed high and having to go to a different website may deter 
some people from using the service.

Ms. Ward advised one service this vendor offered was to process the online bill pay checks and 
deliver electronic payments to the City.

There was discussion about bill pay services through a customer’s bank. It was recommended to 
have the proposed vendor provide a presentation at a Council Meeting.

Mayor Dalton stated that the motion was to bring the presentation to a future meeting with more 
information.

It was moved by Councilor Fairchild to have the vendor make a presentation to the Council to 
answer questions. The motion was duly seconded and carried unanimously.

TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX 30% DISCRETIONARY ALLOCATION FOR 2013

Ms. Pope presented a work plan for the 2013 Transient Occupancy Tax 30% Discretionary 
Allocation. She noted that the events were the same, but some amounts had changed. She stated 
the Winterfest lights needed to be in the budget every year.

Councilor Brown asked why the Bounty Market was being subsidized. Ms. Pope reported it was 
for marketing and management costs. She noted that the Bounty Market was staff managed, not 
volunteer managed. She commented that at year-end, the market expenses were $12,000, while 
revenue was only $7,000. 

Councilor Brown asked if raising rates would chase vendors away. Ms. Pope stated it would and 
explained the market gave the vendors an opportunity to showcase products and become higher 
producing members of the community.

Mr. Shetterly advised after Council approval he would develop a contract to solidify the proposal.

Mr. Brown stated this was a discretionary fund that the City gave to the Chamber and the 
Visitor’s Center to help promote tourism.

It was moved by Council President Wilson to approve the work plan submitted by the Dallas 
Area Visitor’s Center and direct the City Attorney to draw up a contract for services. The motion 
was duly seconded and carried unanimously.

OTHER

RESOLUTIONS

Resolution No. 3261 – A resolution authorizing the transfer of budgetary funds.

Ms. Ward reviewed her staff report. She indicated $5,000 of the transfer was for a grant for tree 
removal in the Park, $1,300 was for a portion of the City’s match on a trail grant, and $7,000 was 
for the reorganization of Library personnel. She explained that would decrease the $150,000 
contingency fund by $13,300.

Councilor Brown asked how the contingency was decreased if we received the $5,000 from 
insurance to remove the trees. Ms. Ward stated she had to increase the expenditures to receive the 
payment as revenue.

Councilor Lawson asked about the library personnel reorganization cost. Ms. Ward stated 
Rosalyn McGarva was promoted to Lead Librarian. Councilor Stewart asked if this was an 
increase in salary for the remainder of the fiscal year. Ms. Ward stated it was and next year’s 
budget would be adjusted accordingly.

A roll call vote was taken and Mayor Dalton declared Resolution No. 3261 to have PASSED BY 
A UNANIMOUS VOTE with Councilor Jim Brown, Councilor Jim Fairchild, Councilor Kelly 
Gabliks, Councilor Beth Jones, Councilor Jackie Lawson, Councilor Kevin Marshall, Councilor 
Murray Stewart, Council President LaVonne Wilson, and Councilor Ken Woods, Jr. voting YES.

FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE

Ordinance No. 1752 – An ordinance defining chronic nuisance property, establishing the 
procedure and penalties therefore; and declaring an emergency.



City Council Meeting
February 4, 2013
Page 4 

Councilor Lawson asked for whether the sidewalk outside a property was considered part of the 
property for the purposes of the ordinance. Mr. Shetterly clarified the ordinance indicated any 
nuisance within 200 feet of a property and associated with the property was covered under the 
ordinance.

SECOND READING OF ORDINANCE

OTHER BUSINESS

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 8:26 p.m.

Read and approved this _______ day of _________________________ 2013.

_______________________________________
                                     Mayor

ATTEST:

_________________________________________
City Manager


